2008

General Construction and Development, Inc. v. Peterson Plumbing Supply : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-3-102(3)(j). *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) (2009).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT PETERSON'S MECHANICS' LIEN NOTICES WERE NOT TIMELY?

Standard of Review

Since the facts are not disputed, the issue of whether Peterson Plumbing Supply's mechanics' lien notices were timely filed is a question of statutory interpretation and therefore constitutes a question of law for which "no deference need be given the trial court's conclusions." Foothill Park, LC v. Judston, Inc., 2008 UT App 113, ¶ 4, 182 P.3d 924, 926 (Utah Ct. App. 2008).

Preservation for Appeal

This issue was preserved for appeal by being addressed in Peterson Plumbing Supply's Memorandum in Opposition to Verified Petition to Nullify Liens and Memorandum [R. 91-95] and in oral argument before the district court on October 8, 2008 [R. 287-98].

II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT PETERSON'S MECHANICS' LIENS WERE WRONGFUL LIENS?

Standard of Review

Since the facts are not disputed, the issue of whether Peterson Plumbing Supply's mechanics' liens were wrongful liens is a question of statutory interpretation and

therefore constitutes a question of law for which “no deference need be given the trial court’s conclusions.” Foothill Park, LC v. Judston, Inc., 2008 UT App 113, ¶ 4, 182 P.3d 924, 926 (Utah Ct. App. 2008).

Preservation for Appeal

This issue was preserved for appeal by being addressed in Peterson Plumbing Supply’s Memorandum in Opposition to Verified Petition to Nullify Liens and Memorandum [R. 91-95] and in oral argument before the district court on October 8, 2008 [R. 287-98].

STATUTES DETERMINATIVE ON APPEAL

I. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-3 (2008).

Contractors, subcontractors, and all persons performing any services or furnishing or renting any materials or equipment used in the construction, alteration, or improvement of any building or structure or improvement to any premises in any manner and licensed architects and engineers and artisans who have furnished designs, plats, plans, maps, specifications, drawings, estimates of cost, surveys or superintendence, or who have rendered other like professional service, or bestowed labor, shall have a lien upon the property upon or concerning which they have rendered service, performed labor, or furnished or rented materials or equipment for the value of the service rendered, labor performed, or materials or equipment furnished or rented by each respectively, whether at the instance of the owner or of any other person acting by his authority as agent, contractor, or otherwise except as the lien is barred under Section 38-11-107 of the Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act. This lien shall attach only to such interest as the owner may have in the property

II. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7 (2008).

(1)(a)(i) Except as modified in Section 38-1-27, a person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien within: (A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract if no notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33; or (B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33. (ii) For purposes of this Subsection

(1), final completion of the original contract, and for purposes of Section 38-1-33, final completion of the project, means: (A) if as a result of work performed under the original contract a permanent certificate of occupancy is required for the work, the date of issuance of a permanent certificate of occupancy by the local government entity having jurisdiction over the construction project; (B) if no certificate of occupancy is required by the local government entity having jurisdiction over the construction project, but as a result of the work performed under the original contract an inspection is required as per state-adopted building codes for the work, the date of the final inspection for the work by the local government entity having jurisdiction over the construction project; or (C) if with regard to work performed under the original contract no certificate of occupancy and no final inspection are required as per state-adopted building codes by the local government entity having jurisdiction over the construction project, the date on which there remains no substantial work to be completed to finish the work on the original contract.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 38-1-2, where a subcontractor performs substantial work after the applicable dates established by Subsections (1)(a)(ii)(A) and (B), that subcontractor's subcontract shall be considered an original contract for the sole purpose of determining: (i) the subcontractor's time frame to file a notice of intent to hold and claim a lien under this Subsection (1); and (ii) the original contractor's time frame to file a notice of intent to hold and claim a lien under this Subsection (1) for that subcontractor's work.

(c) For purposes of this chapter, the term "substantial work" does not include: (i) repair work; or (ii) warranty work.

(d) Notwithstanding Subsection (1)(a)(ii), final completion of the original contract does not occur if work remains to be completed for which the owner is holding payment to ensure completion of that work.

(2)(a) The notice required by Subsection (1) shall contain a statement setting forth: (i) the name of the reputed owner if known or, if not known, the name of the record owner; (ii) the name of the person: (A) by whom the lien claimant was employed; or (B) to whom the lien claimant furnished the equipment or material; (iii) the time when: (A) the first and last labor or service was performed; or (B) the first and last equipment or material was furnished; (iv) a description of the property, sufficient for identification; (v) the name, current address, and current phone number of the lien claimant; (vi) the amount of the lien claim; (vii) the signature of the lien claimant or the lien claimant's authorized agent; (viii) an acknowledgment or certificate as required under Title 57, Chapter 3, Recording of Documents; and (ix) if the lien is on an owner-occupied residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, a statement describing what steps an owner, as defined in Section 38-11-102, may take to require a lien claimant to remove the lien in accordance

with Section 38-11-107.

(b) Substantial compliance with the requirements of this chapter is sufficient to hold and claim a lien.

(3)(a) Within 30 days after filing the notice of lien, the lien claimant shall deliver or mail by certified mail a copy of the notice of lien to: (i) the reputed owner of the real property; or (ii) the record owner of the real property.

(b) If the record owner's current address is not readily available to the lien claimant, the copy of the claim may be mailed to the last-known address of the record owner, using the names and addresses appearing on the last completed real property assessment rolls of the county where the affected property is located.

(c) Failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the lien claimant from an award of costs and attorneys' fees against the reputed owner or record owner in an action to enforce the lien.

(4) The Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing shall make rules governing the form of the statement required under Subsection (2)(a)(ix).

III. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-1 (2008).

As used in this chapter:

(1) "Interest holder" means a person who holds or possesses a present, lawful property interest in certain real property, including an owner, title holder, mortgagee, trustee, or beneficial owner.

(2) "Lien claimant" means a person claiming an interest in real property who offers a document for recording or filing with any county recorder in the state asserting a lien, or notice of interest, or other claim of interest in certain real property.

(3) "Owner" means a person who has a vested ownership interest in certain real property.

(4) "Record interest holder" means a person who holds or possesses a present, lawful property interest in certain real property, including an owner, titleholder, mortgagee, trustee, or beneficial owner, and whose name and interest in that real property appears in the county recorder's records for the county in which the property is located.

(5) "Record owner" means an owner whose name and ownership interest in certain real property is recorded or filed in the county recorder's records for the county in which the

property is located.

(6) “Wrongful lien” means any document that purports to create a lien, notice of interest, or encumbrance on an owner's interest in certain real property and at the time it is recorded or filed is not: (a) expressly authorized by this chapter or another state or federal statute; (b) authorized by or contained in an order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction in the state; or (c) signed by or authorized pursuant to a document signed by the owner of the real property.

IV. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-2 (2008).

(1)(a) The provisions of Sections 38-9-1, 38-9-3, 38-9-4, and 38-9-6 apply to any recording or filing or any rejected recording or filing of a lien pursuant to this chapter on or after May 5, 1997. (b) The provisions of Sections 38-9-1 and 38-9-7 apply to all liens of record regardless of the date the lien was recorded or filed. (c) Notwithstanding Subsections (1)(a) and (b), the provisions of this chapter applicable to the filing of a notice of interest do not apply to a notice of interest filed before May 5, 2008.

(2) The provisions of this chapter shall not prevent a person from filing a lis pendens in accordance with Section 78B-6-1303 or seeking any other relief permitted by law.

(3) This chapter does not apply to a person entitled to a lien under Section 38-1-3 who files a lien pursuant to Title 38, Chapter 1, Mechanics’ Liens.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This case presents two question of statutory interpretation: (1) whether or not a mechanics’ lien notice is timely filed under Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) when the notice of lien is filed within 90 days of the filing of a notice of completion but later than 180 days after final completion of the original contract; and if not, (2) whether an untimely mechanics’ lien notice filed by a party entitled to a lien under Utah Code § 38-1-3 (2008) renders the mechanics’ lien wrongful under Utah’s Wrongful Lien Act.

Appellant Peterson Plumbing Supply is a plumbing materials supplier that supplied materials for the construction of Appellee Petitioners' condominiums. Peterson Plumbing Supply was not fully paid for the plumbing materials. Certificates of occupancy were issued for the condominiums between October and December of 2007. These certificates evidence final completion of the original contract. Thereafter, notices of completion for the condominiums were filed in July and August of 2008. Mechanics' lien notices were also filed by Peterson Plumbing Supply in July and August of 2008.

Petitioners argued before the district court that Peterson Plumbing Supply's mechanics' lien notices were not timely since they were filed more than 180 days after final completion of the original contracts even though they were filed within 90 days of the filing of the notices of completion. Therefore, according to Petitioners, Peterson Plumbing Supply's mechanics' liens were wrongful liens based on Foothill Park, LC v. Judston, Inc., 2008 UT App 113, 182 P.3d 924 (Utah Ct. App. 2008).

Conversely, Peterson Plumbing Supply argued before the district court that its mechanics' lien notices were timely since they were filed within 90 days of the filing of the notices of completion. In addition, Peterson Plumbing Supply argued that its mechanics' liens were not wrongful liens even if the lien notices were not timely filed.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.

1. On September 17, 2008, Petitioners filed their Verified Petition to Nullify Liens and Memorandum [R. 1-73].

2. On October 1, 2008, Peterson Plumbing Supply filed its Memorandum in Opposition to Verified Petition to Nullify Liens and Memorandum [R. 91-95].
3. On October 8, 2008, Petitioners filed their Reply Memorandum in Support of Petition to Nullify Liens [R. 99-103].
4. On October 8, 2008, a Hearing was held before Honorable Samuel D. McVey, Fourth District Court, Utah County, Provo Department, State of Utah, pursuant to Utah Code § 38-9-7 (2008), wherein the court granted Petitioners Verified Petition to Nullify Liens [R. 98, 271-323].
5. On November 14, 2008, the district court entered its Order on Petition to Nullify Liens [R. 107-09].
6. On December 4, 2008, Peterson Plumbing Supply filed its Petition for Interlocutory Appeal with this Court. [R. 120].
7. On February 18, 2009, this Court granted Peterson Plumbing Supply's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal [R. 262].

III. DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

On November 14, 2008, the district court entered its Order on Petition to Nullify Liens wherein the court concluded that the mechanics' lien notices filed by Peterson Plumbing Supply were not timely filed and that therefore Peterson Plumbing Supply's mechanics' liens were wrongful liens pursuant to Utah Code § 38-9-7 (2008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Appellee Petitioners are the owners of certain individual condominiums which are part of multi-unit buildings located in Pleasant Grove City, Utah [R. 70-73; 320, ¶¶ 1-12].
2. Appellant Peterson Plumbing Supply is a plumbing materials supplier that supplied materials for the construction of Petitioners' condominiums [R. 320, ¶¶ 21-23].
3. The plumbing materials supplied by Peterson Plumbing Supply were supplied pursuant to a contract with Pace Plumbing, Inc. [R. 70, ¶ 26].
4. Petitioner General Construction & Development, Inc. contracted with Pace Plumbing, Inc. to do plumbing work on the condominiums [R. 70, ¶ 24].
5. Petitioner General Construction & Development, Inc. developed and built the condominiums [R. 72, ¶ 2].
6. Peterson Plumbing Supply was not fully paid by Pace Plumbing, Inc. for the plumbing materials supplied for the construction of Petitioners' condominiums [R. 4, 6, 8, 9, 13-16, 18, 19, 21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47].
7. Peterson Plumbing Supply filed mechanics' lien notices against the condominiums as set forth in the following schedule:

Building	Cert of Occupancy	Notice of Completion	Date of Lien
n	October 11, 2007	July 29, 2008	August 6, 2008
v	November 14, 2007	July 29, 2008	August 6, 2008

w	October 25, 2007	July 29, 2008	August 6, 2008
x	December 17, 2007	August 8, 2008	July 1, 2008
y	December 4, 2007	August 8, 2008	August 21, 2008

[R. 4-49, 93-94, 102, 320-22].

8. Each mechanics' lien notice was filed within 90 days after a notice of completion was filed in the Utah State Construction Registry for each of the condominiums as set forth in the foregoing schedule [R. 93-94, 320-22].

9. Each mechanics' lien notice was filed more than 180 days after final completion of the original contract for each of the condominiums as established by the certificates of occupancy and as set forth in the foregoing schedule [R. 93-94, 320-22].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE MECHANICS' LIEN NOTICES FILED BY PETERSON PLUMBING SUPPLY WERE NOT TIMELY.

The district court held that the mechanics' lien notices filed by Peterson Plumbing Supply were not timely filed since they were filed more than 180 days after final completion of the original contracts. However, Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) provides that mechanics' lien notices are required to be filed "within: (A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract if no notice of completion is filed

under Section 38-1-33; or (B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008).

A notice of completion was filed for each of the condominiums upon which Peterson Plumbing Supply filed a mechanics’ lien notice. Accordingly, the 180 day deadline set forth in section 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) was expressly inapplicable. Since Peterson Plumbing Supply’s mechanics’ lien notices were filed within 90 days of the filing of the notices of completion, its mechanics’ liens were timely.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT PETERSON PLUMBING SUPPLY’S MECHANICS’ LIENS WERE WRONGFUL LIENS.

The district court held that Peterson Plumbing Supply’s mechanics’ liens were wrongful under Utah’s Wrongful Lien Act based upon its conclusion that the mechanics’ lien notices filed by Peterson Plumbing Supply were not timely. However, Peterson Plumbing Supply’s mechanics’ liens do not fall within the definition of “wrongful lien” under Utah’s Wrongful Lien Act since mechanics’ liens are “expressly authorized” by statute. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-1(6) (2008); Hutter v. Dig-It, Inc., 2009 UT 69, ¶ 52.

Furthermore, Peterson Plumbing Supply was “entitled to a lien under Section 38-1-3” of Utah’s Mechanics’ Lien Act regardless of whether its mechanics’ liens were enforceable. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-2(3) (2008). Accordingly, the district court erred by nullify Peterson Plumbing Supply’s mechanics’ liens under Utah’s Wrongful Lien Act.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE MECHANICS' LIEN NOTICES FILED BY PETERSON PLUMBING SUPPLY WERE NOT TIMELY.

The facts pertinent to this appeal are straightforward. With respect to each condominium, Peterson Plumbing Supply filed a mechanics' lien notice within 90 days of the filing of a notice of completion but later than 180 days after final completion of the original contract [R. 93-94, 320-22]. In finding that Peterson Plumbing Supply's liens were untimely, the district court interpreted Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) as (1) creating a maximum lien filing deadline of 180 days from final completion of the original contract, and (2) providing that the filing of a notice of completion can only reduce, not extend, the 180 day deadline [R. 279].

This interpretation of Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) is inconsistent with its plain and unambiguous language, which provides that mechanics' lien claimants

shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien *within: (A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract **if no notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33; or (B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33.***

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008) (emphasis added).

Under the rules of this Court, “[w]hen examining a statute, we look first to its plain language as the best indicator of the legislature’s intent and purpose in passing the statute. *Only* if that language is ambiguous do we then turn to a consideration of

legislative history and relevant policy considerations.” Wilson v. Valley Mental Health, 969 P.2d 416, 418 (Utah 1998) (emphasis added). Furthermore,

a statute should be applied according to its literal wording unless it is unreasonably confused or inoperable. We must assume that each term in the statute was used advisedly by the Legislature and that each should be interpreted and applied according to its usually accepted meaning. Where the ordinary meaning of the terms results in an application that is neither unreasonably confused, inoperable, nor in blatant contradiction to the express purpose of the statute, it is not the duty of this Court to assess the wisdom of the statutory scheme.

West Jordan v. Morrison, 656 P.2d 445, 446 (Utah 1982).

Interpreting Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) pursuant to the ordinary meaning of its literal wording is not confusing, does not render the statute inoperable, and would not result in an application of the statute in blatant contradiction to the express purpose of the statute (which is to define the time within which a notice of mechanics’ lien must be filed). Rather, the plain language of Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) manifests that the legislature intended to limit the time within which to file a mechanics’ lien notice to 180 days after final completion of the original contract only when “no notice of completion is filed.” *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7 (2008).

If a notice of completion is filed, the plain and unambiguous language of the statute requires that the lien be filed within “90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed.” *See id.* The accuracy of this interpretation is apparent when Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2008) is contrasted with its amended version, Utah Code § 38-1-7 (2009). The 2008 version provides that mechanics’ lien claimants

shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien **within**: (A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract **if no notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33; or (B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33.**

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008) (emphasis added). In contrast, the 2009 version provides that mechanics' lien claimants

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