2008

General Construction & Development, INC ET AL; v. Peterson Plumbing Supply : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008) states that a mechanics' lien notice must be filed with 90 days of a notice of completion, if one is filed, or within 180 days of final completion of the original contract. The intent of a notice of completion is to shorten the time period for filing a mechanics' lien and not to extend that time period past the 180 day. Peterson Plumbing asserts that their mechanics' lien notices were filed timely, even though they were filed more than 180 days after the completion of the original contract, because they contend that the notices of completion filed by GCD resurrected their lien

rights. Peterson Plumbing's reading of the statute would make parts of the statute superfluous and make the statute virtually inoperable.

Peterson Plumbing further asserts that even if the mechanics' lien notices were recorded belatedly, they do not constitute a wrongful lien pursuant to Utah's Wrongful Lien Act because mechanics' liens are "expressly authorized" by statute. Further, Peterson Plumbing asserts that Peterson Plumbing supply was "entitled to a lien under Section 38-1-3" of Utah's Mechanics' Lien Act and therefore the lien cannot be wrongful by law. Utah case law is clear that if a lien is not timely filed, then the lien right perishes inchoate and all the rights and remedies under the mechanics lien statute are immediately extinguished. The failure to timely file a mechanics' lien is fatal and cannot be remedied. If a mechanics' lien notice is filed past the time period to file a lien, the notice of lien is invalid from the beginning because the lien right has already perished. If no lien rights exist at the time of filing the lien, the lien claimant cannot be "entitled to a lien" nor can the lien be filed "pursuant to Title 38, Chapter 1, Mechanics Liens". Because Peterson Plumbing clearly failed to timely file their mechanics' lien notices, the mechanics' lien notices were wrongful pursuant to the Wrongful Lien Act.

Ultimately, the trial court was correct in finding that Peterson Plumbing's mechanics' lien notices were untimely and therefore void ab initio. The trial court held that because Peterson Plumbing's lien rights had expired, Peterson Plumbing was not "entitled" to file a mechanics lien and therefore the liens were wrongful. For the reasons stated hereafter, the trial court's decision should be affirmed and Appellees should be awarded their attorneys fees pursuant to statute.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT PETERSON PLUMBING'S MECHANICS' LIEN NOTICES WERE UNTIMELY AND THEREFORE VOID AB INITIO.

The first issue before this Court is the interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008) which states in the pertinent part:

(1) (a) (i) Except as modified in Section 38-1-27, a person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien within:

(A) **180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract if no notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33; or**
(B) **90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33.**

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008) (emphasis added). The trial court correctly interpreted Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008) when it held that the intent of the legislature was that a Notice of Completion could only shorten the time period from 180 days to 90 days to file a mechanics' lien notice and could not extend the time period past 180 days (R. 279, 108-109).

Peterson Plumbing asserts that the filing of a Notice of Completion, even if years or decades have passed since the 180 day deadline expired, would resurrect the lien rights and allow a lien claimant to file a mechanics' lien notice within the next 90 days after the Notice of Completion is filed¹. *See* Brief of Appellant pg. 11-14. This interpretation is

¹ The facts in this case are not in dispute but a clarification of the facts is necessary. Peterson Plumbing claims that it "filed a mechanics' lien notice within 90 days of the filing of a notice of completion" with respect to each condominium. *See* Brief of Appellant pg. 11. This is not correct. Peterson Plumbing actually filed mechanics' lien notices on the four units in Building N and the six units in Building X before a notice of

clearly erroneous and was not the intent of the legislature as evidenced by the statutory history of the Mechanics' Lien Statute and the Senate floor debates. Further, Peterson Plumbing's interpretation creates an absurd, unreasonable or inoperable result which would render portions of the statute superfluous.

A. The statutory history of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 and the Senate floor debates show that the 2009 changes to Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 was a clarification and not a substantial change in the law.

Peterson Plumbing asserts that the language in Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008) is not ambiguous and that a plain reading of the statute allows for a mechanics' lien to be filed after the 180 day deadline if a notice of completion is filed after that same 180 day deadline. *See* Brief of Appellant pg. 11-15. This argument is mistaken. A plain reading of the statute, without looking to the legislative history, reveals that the statute is ambiguous because it can conceivably be interpreted to mean: 1) that a filing of a notice of completion could extend the deadline past 180 days of completion, and 2) that a filing of a notice of completion cannot extend the deadline past 180 days. If the statutory language is ambiguous, the court may look beyond the statute to legislative history and public policy to ascertain the statute's intent. *See Utah Pub. Employees Ass'n v. State*, 2006 UT 9, ¶ 59, 131 P.3d 208.

The statutory history of the Utah Mechanics' Lien Act shows that the legislature did not intend for a Notice of Completion to allow an undeterminable amount of time to

completion had been filed with the State Construction Registry and not "within 90 days of the filing of a notice of completion". (R. 69, 291). It is not disputed that all of the mechanics' lien notices were filed more than 180 days after final completion of the original contract. *See* Brief of Appellant pg. 11.

file a mechanics' lien notice. Utah first enacted a mechanics' lien statute while a Territory even before it's admission to Statehood. *See Cast v. Cast*, 1 Utah 112, 121 (UT Terr. 1873). After Utah became a State the territorial statute was re-codified in 1898 as Mechanics' Lien Act Chapter 1 Title 39. *See Park City Meat Co. v. Comstock Silver Mining Co.*, 36 Utah 145, 103 P. 254, 258-259 (Utah 1909). The pertinent sections of the 1884, 1898, 1953, 2006, 2008 and 2009 versions of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 are printed below.

The 1884 version states in the pertinent part:

Every original contractor, within sixty days after the completion of his contract, and every person, save the original contractor, claiming the benefit of this Chapter, must within thirty days after the completion of any building...file for record with the county recorder of the county in which such property or some part thereof is situated, a claim...

Laws of the Territory of Utah, Title IV, Chapter I, Sec. 1062.

The 1898 version states in the pertinent part:

Every original contractor within sixty days after the completion of his contract, and every person save the original contractor claiming the benefit of this chapter, must within forty days after furnishing the last material or performing the last labor for any building, improvement, or structure... file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property or some part thereof is situated, a claim in writing containing a notice of intention to hold and claim a lien...

Section 1386, Chapter 1, Title 39 (Rev. St. 1898) also *see Eccles Lumber Co. v. Martin*, 31 Utah 241, 87 P. 713, 715-716 (Utah 1906).

The 1953 version states in the pertinent part:

Every original contractor within eighty days after the completion of his contract, and except as hereafter provided, every person other than the original contractor claiming the benefit of this chapter within sixty days after furnishing the last

material or performing the last labor for any land, building... must file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some party thereof, is situated a claim in writing, containing a notice of intention to hold and claim a lien....

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (1953).

The 2006 version states in the pertinent part:

(1) (a) (i) Except as modified in Section 38-1-27, a person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien within 90 days after the date of final completion of the original contract under which the claimant claims a lien under this chapter.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2006).

The 2008 version states in the pertinent part:

(1) (a) (i) Except as modified in Section 38-1-27, a person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien within:

(A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract if no notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33; or

(B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008).

The 2009 version states in the pertinent part:

(1) (a) (i) Except as modified in Section 38-1-27, a person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien no later than:

(A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract if no notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33; or

(B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under Section 38-1-33 but not later than the time frame established in Subsection (1)(a)(i)(A).

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2009).

Every prior version of the Utah Mechanics' Lien Statute has had a specific and easily definable time period in which to file a mechanics' lien notice. No version had a time frame longer than 180 days to file a mechanics lien. The 2008 version was the first version that included a separate time frame to file a mechanics' lien notice if a notice of completion was filed. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008).

Given this history, Peterson Plumbing's interpretation of this statute is a drastic departure from all prior and subsequent versions inasmuch as this is the only version, according to Peterson Plumbing, that has an infinite time period to file a mechanics' lien notice.

Appellees' Petition to Nullify the wrongful liens was heard before the District Court was on October 8, 2008, just before the 2009 amendment (R. 323). The trial court correctly interpreted Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008) by holding that "the notice of completion statute is intended to allow someone to give notice to all of the suppliers and subcontractors and shorten the time from 180 days to 90 days to record a lien. So it's supposed to be issued within that 180-day period early on in order to shorten that. That's what the intent of that statute is, not to resurrect voided lien rights." (R. 279). That the trial court correctly interpreted the 2008 statute is shown by the legislature clarifying this statute in 2009, to make it read just as the trial court held. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2009).

However, Peterson Plumbing asserts that the "2009 amendment to Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-7 is a substantive change and not a mere clarification of the law". *See*

Brief of Appellant pg. 14. In support of this assertion, Peterson Plumbing cites to *Hutter v. Dig-It, Inc.*, 2009 UT 69, 219 P.3d 918. In *Hutter*, this Court stated:

While it is true that an amendment to an ambiguous statute may indicate a legislative purpose to clarify the ambiguities in the statute rather than to change the law, this is not the general rule, and this view of an amendment should be taken only where there is a strong indication that clarification was, in fact, the legislative intent.

Hutter, 2009 UT 69, ¶ 16 (internal quotations omitted).

In the *Hutter* case, however, this Court found that there was no specific evidence in that case that the legislature's intent was to clarify the statute. 2009 UT 69, ¶ 16.

Moreover, this is a general rule, subject to clear instances of legislative intent otherwise. *See Id.*

For example, in *State v. Bryant*, 965 P.2d 539 (Utah App. 1998), the Court of Appeals considered instances where a subsequent change to a statute was a clarification rather than a substantive change. In *Bryant*, the Court of Appeals stated:

[T]he propriety of the trial court's interpretation is confirmed by a subsequent amendment to section 76-5-405(1)(b). After the trial in this case, the Legislature rewrote the phrase, 'threatens the victim *by* use of a dangerous weapon,' to read, 'threatens the victim *with* use of a dangerous weapon.' An amendment which, in effect, construes and clarifies a prior statute will be accepted as the legislative declaration of the original act. Thus, when a statute is ambiguous, amendment of the statute may indicate a legislative purpose to clarify the ambiguities in the statute rather than to change the law. Such an amendment may intimate that the Legislature has become aware that the earlier language could be misconstrued as defendants have done."

Bryant, 965 P.2d at 546 (citations omitted and internal quotation marks omitted).

Like *Bryant*, and unlike *Hutter*, there exists direct and specific evidence in this case that a clarification was intended by the 2009 amendment and not a substantive

change of the law. This is supported not only by statutory history of the Mechanics' Lien Act as shown above, but also by the Senate Floor Debate regarding House Bill 154 that amended Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008). Senator Jenkins stated in the floor debate,

On line 42, 90 days after the date of the notice completed, but no later than the, it's the 180 days that's on line 40. So it can be no later than the 180 days on line 40. So, it's just a clarification.²

When speaking specifically about the exact phrase that was interpreted by the trial Court, Senator Jenkins stated that it was a clarification and not a substantive change. This is very strong evidence that the legislature realized that Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i) (2008) was ambiguous and could be misconstrued. Accordingly, the legislature decided to clarify the 2008 statute with the new amendment.

Taking into account the statutory history and the Senator Jenkins' statements regarding § 38-1-7, it is clear that the changes to the 2008 version was a clarification of what the legislature originally intended and not a substantive change in the law. Thus, the trial court's interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7 (2008) is supported by these facts and should be affirmed.

B. Peterson Plumbing's interpretation creates an absurd, unreasonable and inoperable result, rendering the 180 day time limit superfluous.

Where an interpretation "creates an absurd, unreasonable, or inoperable result, we assume the legislature did not intend that result [and] endeavor to discover the underlying legislative intent and interpret the statute accordingly." *See State v. Jeffries*, 2009 UT 57,

² Senate Floor Debate, H.B. 154, 58th Leg., Gen. Sess. (February 27, 2009) (statements of Senator Jenkins).

¶ 8, 217 P.3d 265. “One of the cardinal principles of statutory construction is that [we] will look to the reason, spirit, and sense of the legislation, as indicated by the entire context and subject matter of the statute dealing with the subject.” *In re Marriage of Gonzalez*, 2000 UT 28, ¶ 23, 1 P.3d 1074.

Under Peterson Plumbing’s interpretation of the statute, a mechanics’ lien notice could theoretically be filed years, decades or even centuries after the completion of the final contract and then resurrect the right to file a mechanics’ lien notice for an additional 90 days. *See* Brief of Appellant pg. 12. However, as shown above, the mechanics’ lien statute has always provided a definite and determinable time period to file a mechanics’ lien notice. However, Peterson Plumbing argues that the 2008 version does not have any determinable time frame in which a mechanics’ lien can be filed. This interpretation creates an absurd, unreasonable and inoperable result and this Court should assume that the legislature did not intend such a result.

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